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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1—Financial Statements
A. SCHULMAN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Three months ended Six months ended
February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

Unaudited
(In thousands, except per share data)

Net sales $522,369 $495,911 $1,062,921 $1,013,200
Cost of sales 459,908 431,362 929,613 879,155
Selling, general and administrative expenses 51,474 49,416 101,977 96,831
Restructuring expense 1,669 1,597 3,606 4,841
Asset impairment — — 498 —
Curtailment (gain) loss — (209 ) 333 (209 )
Operating income 9,318 13,745 26,894 32,582
Interest expense 1,929 2,453 3,708 4,579
Interest income (120 ) (125 ) (328 ) (357 )
Foreign currency transaction (gains) losses (9 ) 17 549 516
Other (income) expense, net (156 ) (883 ) (291 ) (1,053 )
Income before taxes 7,674 12,283 23,256 28,897
Provision (benefit) for U.S. and foreign income taxes (4,350 ) 2,993 (913 ) 5,644
Net income 12,024 9,290 24,169 23,253
Noncontrolling interests (239 ) (217 ) (605 ) (598 )
Net income attributable to A. Schulman, Inc. $11,785 $9,073 $23,564 $22,655

Weighted-average number of shares outstanding:
Basic 29,293 29,374 29,255 29,396
Diluted 29,725 29,651 29,668 29,588
Earnings per share of common stock attributable to A. Schulman, Inc.:
Basic $0.40 $0.31 $0.81 $0.77
Diluted $0.40 $0.31 $0.79 $0.77
Cash dividends per common share $0.195 $0.170 $0.390 $0.340

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
- 1 -
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Three months ended Six months ended
February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

Unaudited
(In thousands)

Net income $12,024 $ 9,290 $24,169 $ 23,253
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation gain (loss), net of tax 1,363 7,539 9,833 (22,156 )
Unrecognized net actuarial losses and prior service costs
    (credits), net of tax 118 (6 ) 895 (30 )

Other comprehensive income (loss) 1,481 7,533 10,728 (22,186 )
Comprehensive income (loss) 13,505 16,823 34,897 1,067
Less: comprehensive income (loss) attributable to
    noncontrolling interests 205 202 530 558

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to A. Schulman, Inc. $13,300 $ 16,621 $34,367 $ 509

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
- 2 -
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

February 28,
2013

August 31,
2012

Unaudited
(In thousands)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $79,696 $124,031
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $10,505 at February
28, 2013
     and $9,190 at August 31, 2012

332,927 304,698

Inventories, average cost or market, whichever is lower 278,197 247,222
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 37,734 32,403
Total current assets 728,554 708,354
Property, plant and equipment, at cost:
Land and improvements 28,521 28,739
Buildings and leasehold improvements 151,439 156,951
Machinery and equipment 348,179 363,811
Furniture and fixtures 39,875 39,404
Construction in progress 18,864 14,320
Gross property, plant and equipment 586,878 603,225
Accumulated depreciation and investment grants of $515 at February 28, 2013 and
      $579 at August 31, 2012 361,611 377,349

Net property, plant and equipment 225,267 225,876
Other assets:
Deferred charges and other noncurrent assets 54,357 41,146
Goodwill 138,998 128,353
Intangible assets, net 100,270 90,038
Total other assets 293,625 259,537
Total assets $1,247,446 $1,193,767
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $252,553 $248,069
U.S. and foreign income taxes payable 4,512 4,268
Accrued payroll, taxes and related benefits 36,517 42,275
Other accrued liabilities 46,623 37,282
Short-term debt 37,655 35,411
Total current liabilities 377,860 367,305
Long-term debt 190,894 174,466
Pension plans 96,882 92,581
Other long-term liabilities 26,535 29,324
Deferred income taxes 21,253 22,402
Total liabilities 713,424 686,078
Commitments and contingencies — —
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $1 par value, authorized - 75,000 shares, issued - 48,083 shares at
      February 28, 2013 and 47,958 shares at August 31, 2012 48,083 47,958

Additional paid-in capital 262,587 259,253
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Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 4,882 (5,921 )
Retained earnings 583,056 571,205
Treasury stock, at cost, 18,661 shares at February 28, 2013 and 18,649 shares at
August 31, 2012 (371,409 ) (371,099 )

Total A. Schulman, Inc.’s stockholders’ equity 527,199 501,396
Noncontrolling interests 6,823 6,293
Total equity 534,022 507,689
Total liabilities and equity $1,247,446 $1,193,767

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
- 3 -
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Six months ended
February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

Unaudited
(In thousands)

Operating:
Net income $24,169 $23,253
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided from (used in) operating
activities:
Depreciation 15,023 14,646
Amortization 5,782 4,163
Deferred tax provision (8,413 ) (4,655 )
Pension, postretirement benefits and other deferred compensation 4,398 2,984
Asset impairment 498 —
Curtailment (gain) loss 333 (209 )
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable (14,306 ) 17,398
Inventories (19,199 ) (35,107 )
Accounts payable (6,324 ) 5,301
Income taxes (930 ) (3,716 )
Accrued payroll and other accrued liabilities 804 (10,294 )
Other assets and long-term liabilities (9,887 ) (1,050 )
Net cash provided from (used in) operating activities (8,052 ) 12,714
Investing:
Expenditures for property, plant and equipment (12,889 ) (19,170 )
Proceeds from the sale of assets 8,008 1,072
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired (36,360 ) (62,762 )
Net cash provided from (used in) investing activities (41,241 ) (80,860 )
Financing:
Cash dividends paid (11,713 ) (9,954 )
Increase (decrease) in notes payable 2,081 (2,464 )
Borrowings on revolving credit facilities 70,550 142,980
Repayments on revolving credit facilities (56,550 ) (92,783 )
Borrowings on long-term debt 146 130
Repayments on long-term debt (15 ) (174 )
Cash distributions to noncontrolling interests — (580 )
Issuances of stock, common and treasury 1,394 1,017
Redemptions of common stock (397 ) (374 )
Purchases of treasury stock (479 ) (21,474 )
Net cash provided from (used in) financing activities 5,017 16,324
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (59 ) (8,171 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (44,335 ) (59,993 )
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 124,031 155,753
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $79,696 $95,760
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

(1)GENERAL
The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements included for A. Schulman, Inc. (the “Company”) reflect all
adjustments, which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of the results of the interim
period presented. All such adjustments are of a normal recurring nature. The fiscal year-end consolidated balance
sheet data was derived from audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures required by accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The unaudited consolidated financial information
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto incorporated in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2012.
The results of operations for the three and six months ended February 28, 2013 are not necessarily indicative of the
results expected for the fiscal year ending August 31, 2013.
The accounting policies for the periods presented are the same as described in Note 1 – Business and Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies to the consolidated financial statements contained in the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2012.
Certain items previously reported in specific financial statement captions have been reclassified to conform to the
fiscal 2013 presentation.
(2)BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS
Elian SAS
On January 31, 2012, the Company acquired all of the issued share capital of Elian SAS (“Elian”), a French portfolio
company of British Vita plc, for $66.5 million, which included the assumption and repayment of $4.3 million in Elian
debt. The results of Elian’s operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the date of
acquisition, January 31, 2012.
Elian provides specialty formulated color concentrates to over 1,000 customers in end markets such as packaging,
cosmetics, personal hygiene, healthcare, and pipes and tubing products that require demanding specifications. Elian
offers superior quality, technology and responsiveness to its diversified customer base. The acquisition of Elian
moved the Company into France’s color masterbatch market and improved the Company's product mix in the Europe,
Middle East and Africa ("EMEA") region.
The information included herein has been prepared based on the allocation of the purchase price using estimates of the
fair value and useful lives of assets acquired and liabilities assumed which were determined with the assistance of
independent valuations using discounted cash flow and comparative market multiple approaches, quoted market prices
and estimates made by management.

- 5 -
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

The following table presents the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition:

(In thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents $1,624
Accounts receivable 6,897
Inventories 3,427
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 434
Property, plant and equipment 5,111
Intangible assets 27,779
Other long-term assets 20
Total assets acquired $45,292

Accounts payable $4,907
Other accrued liabilities 3,106
Deferred income taxes 10,598
Pension plans 711
Other long-term liabilities 143
Total liabilities assumed $19,465

Net identifiable assets acquired $25,827
Goodwill 40,718
Net assets acquired $66,545
The Company recorded acquired intangible assets of $27.8 million. These intangible assets include customer related
intangibles of $18.3 million with estimated useful lives of 9 years, developed technology of $8.6 million with
estimated useful lives of 10 years, and trademarks and tradenames of $0.9 million with estimated useful lives of 5
years. In addition, the fair value of accounts receivable acquired was $6.9 million with the gross contractual amount
being $7.3 million.
Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed in the acquisition, and represents the future economic benefits arising from other assets acquired
that could not be individually identified and separately recognized. The amount allocated to goodwill associated with
the Elian acquisition is primarily the result of anticipated synergies and market expansion. Goodwill associated with
this transaction was included in the EMEA segment and none of the goodwill is deductible for income tax purposes.
Other Business Transaction
The following table summarizes the Company's other business transaction for the periods presented:

Transaction Description Date of Transaction
Purchase
Consideration
(In millions)

Segment

ECM Plastics, Inc. September 4, 2012 $36.4 Americas
A Massachusetts producer of custom color, specialty additive
masterbatch and niche engineered plastics products, with a strong
presence in personal care and cosmetics
The ECM Plastics, Inc. purchase price allocation is subject to further adjustment until all pertinent information
regarding the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are fully evaluated by the Company.

- 6 -
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

(3)GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The carrying amount of goodwill by segment for the Company is as follows: 

EMEA Americas Total
(In thousands)

Balance as of August 31, 2012 $68,540 $59,813 $128,353
Acquisitions — 9,329 9,329
Translation and other 1,188 128 1,316
Balance as of February 28, 2013 $69,728 $69,270 $138,998
The increase in goodwill from August 31, 2012 is primarily due to the acquisition of ECM Plastics, Inc. in the first
quarter of fiscal 2013. Goodwill associated with this transaction is deductible for income tax purposes.
Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level on an annual basis in the fourth quarter and between
annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a
reporting unit below its carrying value.
The Company completed its annual impairment review of goodwill as of June 1, 2012 and noted no impairment. The
fair value used in the analysis was established using a combination of the income and market approaches. These
valuation methodologies use estimates and assumptions including, but not limited to, the determination of appropriate
market comparables, projected future cash flows (including timing and profitability), discount rate reflecting the risk
inherent in future cash flows, perpetual growth rate, and projected future economic and market conditions. In addition,
the Company is not aware of any triggers which would require a goodwill impairment test as of February 28, 2013.
The following table summarizes intangible assets with determinable useful lives by major category: 

February 28, 2013 August 31, 2012
Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

(In thousands)
Customer related intangibles $89,308 $(17,102 ) $72,206 $74,039 $(13,263 ) $60,776
Developed technology 19,578 (4,256 ) 15,322 19,189 (3,258 ) 15,931
Registered trademarks and
tradenames 16,523 (3,781 ) 12,742 16,344 (3,013 ) 13,331

Total finite-lived intangible
assets $125,409 $(25,139 ) $100,270 $109,572 $(19,534 ) $90,038

The increase in intangible assets from August 31, 2012 is due to the previously discussed acquisition of ECM Plastics,
Inc. combined with the impact of foreign currency translation. Amortization expense of intangible assets was $2.8
million and $5.4 million for the three and six months ended February 28, 2013, respectively, and $2.1 million and $4.0
million for the three and six months ended February 29, 2012, respectively.
(4)FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
For a discussion of the Company’s fair value measurement policies under the fair value hierarchy, refer to Note 6 in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2012. The Company has not changed its
valuation techniques for measuring the fair value of any financial assets or liabilities during fiscal 2013, and transfers
between levels within the fair value hierarchy, if any, are recognized at the end of each quarter. There were no
transfers between levels during the periods presented.

- 7 -
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

The following table presents information about the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value: 
February 28, 2013 August 31, 2012
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(In thousands)

Assets recorded at fair value:
Foreign exchange
   forward contracts $65 $— $65 $— $92 $— $92 $—

Liabilities recorded at fair value:
Foreign exchange
   forward contracts $104 $— $104 $— $69 $— $69 $—

Liabilities not recorded at fair value:
Long-term fixed-rate
   debt $67,267 $— $67,267 $— $65,210 $— $65,210 $—

Cash and cash equivalents are recorded at cost, which approximates fair value. Additionally, the carrying value of the
Company's variable-rate debt approximates fair value.
Long-term fixed-rate debt issued in Euros is not recorded at fair value on a recurring basis; however, is presented at
fair value for disclosure purposes as shown in the table above. The Level 2 fair value of the Company's long-term
fixed-rate debt was estimated using prevailing market interest rates on debt with similar creditworthiness, terms and
maturities. As of February 28, 2013 and August 31, 2012, the carrying value of the Company's long-term fixed-rate
debt recorded on the consolidated balance sheets was $62.8 million and $60.3 million, respectively.
The Company measures the fair value of its foreign exchange forward contracts using an internal model. The model
maximizes the use of Level 2 market observable inputs including interest rate curves, currency forward and spot
prices, and credit spreads. The total contract value of foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding was $70.3
million and $43.0 million as of February 28, 2013 and August 31, 2012, respectively. The amount of foreign exchange
forward contracts outstanding as of the end of the period is indicative of the exposure of current balances and the
forecasted change in exposures for the following period. Any gains or losses associated with these contracts as well as
the offsetting gains or losses from the underlying assets or liabilities are included in the foreign currency transaction
(gains) losses line in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. The fair value of the Company’s foreign
exchange forward contracts is recognized in other current assets or other accrued liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheets based on the net settlement value. The foreign exchange forward contracts are entered into with credit-worthy
financial institutions, generally have a term of three months or less, and the Company does not hold or issue foreign
exchange forward contracts for trading purposes. There were no foreign exchange forward contracts designated as
hedging instruments as of February 28, 2013 and August 31, 2012.
Additionally, the Company remeasures assets to fair value as a result of the occurrence of certain events. During the
first quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company remeasured the carrying value of certain facilities to fair value using
comparable prices for similar assets in conjunction with restructuring initiatives. The Company did not remeasure any
assets in the second quarter of fiscal 2013. For further discussion on asset impairments, refer to Note 12 of this Form
10-Q.
There were no additional significant assets or liabilities that were remeasured at fair value on a non-recurring basis
during the periods presented.
(5)INCOME TAXES
As of February 28, 2013, the Company's gross unrecognized tax benefits totaled $5.1 million. If recognized, $3.7
million of the total unrecognized tax benefits would favorably affect the Company's effective tax rate. The Company
reports interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. As of February 28, 2013, the
Company had $0.6 million of accrued interest and penalties on unrecognized tax benefits.
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During the three months ended February 28, 2013, the Company recorded a reduction of unrecognized tax benefits of
$1.8 million related to the settlement of a local tax examination in a foreign jurisdiction during the period.
The Company is open to potential income tax examinations in Germany from fiscal 2005 onward, in the U.S. from
fiscal 2009 onward and in Belgium from fiscal 2012 onward. The Company is open to potential examinations from
fiscal 2007 onward for most other foreign jurisdictions.

- 8 -
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits is expected to change in the next 12 months; however, the change is not
expected to have a significant impact on the financial position of the Company.
A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate with the effective tax rates for the three months ended
February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012 is as follows:

Three months ended Three months ended
February 28, 2013 February 29, 2012
(In thousands, except for %’s)

Statutory U.S. tax rate $2,686 35.0  % $4,299 35.0  %
Amount of foreign taxes at less than U.S. statutory tax rate(1,487 ) (19.4 ) (2,689 ) (21.8 )
U.S. and foreign losses with no tax benefit 1,260 16.4 1,097 8.9
U.S. restructuring and other U.S. unusual charges with no
benefit 231 3.0 140 1.1

Valuation allowance changes (7,049 ) (91.9 ) — —
Establishment (resolution) of uncertain tax positions (422 ) (5.5 ) (13 ) (0.1 )
Other 431 5.6 159 1.3
Total income tax expense (benefit) $(4,350 ) (56.8 )% $2,993 24.4  %
The effective tax rate for the three months ended February 28, 2013 is less than the U.S. statutory rate primarily
because of the Company's overall foreign rate being less than the U.S. statutory rate, realization of tax benefits due to
changes in valuation allowances, and resolution of uncertain tax positions in various jurisdictions. These favorable
effects on the Company's tax rate were partially offset by no tax benefits being recognized for U.S. and certain foreign
losses. The change in the effective tax rate as compared with the same period last year was driven primarily by the net
benefit recognized due to the change in valuation allowance and resolution of uncertain tax positions.
The effective tax rate for the three months ended February 29, 2012 is less than the U.S. statutory rate primarily
because of the Company's overall foreign rate being less than the U.S. statutory rate. This favorable effect on the
Company's tax rate was partially offset by no tax benefits being recognized for U.S. and certain foreign losses.
During the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company established a valuation allowance against the net operating
loss deferred tax asset of its Brazilian entity due to the uncertainty in the realization of this asset. The recording of the
valuation allowance resulted in a non-cash charge of approximately $2.4 million.
Additionally, in the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company recorded a non-cash tax benefit of approximately $9.4
million to reverse a valuation allowance against certain deferred tax assets in Germany. Due to German tax law
changes enacted in the second quarter, it is now more-likely-than-not that the interest expense carryforward deferred
tax asset will be realized resulting in the valuation allowance reversal.
A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate with the effective tax rates for the six months ended
February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012 is as follows:

Six months ended Six months ended
February 28, 2013 February 29, 2012
(In thousands, except for %’s)

Statutory U.S. tax rate $8,140 35.0  % $10,114 35.0  %
Amount of foreign taxes at less than U.S. statutory tax rate(4,873 ) (21.0 ) (6,006 ) (20.8 )
U.S. and foreign losses with no tax benefit 2,038 8.8 1,756 6.0
U.S. restructuring and other U.S. unusual charges with no
benefit 554 2.4 250 0.9

Valuation allowance changes (7,049 ) (30.3 ) (747 ) (2.6 )
Establishment (resolution) of uncertain tax positions (253 ) (1.1 ) 18 0.1
Other 530 2.3 259 0.9
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Total income tax expense (benefit) $(913 ) (3.9 )% $5,644 19.5  %
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

The effective tax rate for the six months ended February 28, 2013 is less than the U.S. statutory rate primarily because
of the Company's overall foreign rate being less than the U.S. statutory rate, realization of tax benefits due to changes
in valuation allowances, and resolution of uncertain tax positions in various jurisdictions. These favorable effects on
the Company's tax rate were partially offset by no tax benefits being recognized for U.S. and certain foreign losses.
The change in the effective tax rate as compared with the same period last year was driven primarily by the net benefit
recognized due to the change in valuation allowance and resolution of uncertain tax positions.
The effective tax rate for the six months ended February 29, 2012 is less than the U.S. statutory rate primarily because
of the Company's overall foreign rate being less than the U.S. statutory rate and the benefit recorded for the
adjustment of valuation allowance. This favorable effect on the Company's tax rate was partially offset by no tax
benefits being recognized for U.S. and certain foreign losses.
During the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company established a valuation allowance against the net operating
loss deferred tax asset of its Brazilian entity due to the uncertainty in the realization of this asset. The recording of the
valuation allowance resulted in a non-cash charge of approximately $2.4 million.
Additionally, in the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company recorded a non-cash tax benefit of approximately $9.4
million to reverse a valuation allowance against certain deferred tax assets in Germany. Due to German tax law
changes enacted in the second quarter, it is now more-likely-than-not that the interest expense carryforward deferred
tax asset will be realized resulting in the valuation allowance reversal.
(6)PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
The components of the Company’s net periodic benefit cost for defined benefit pension and other postretirement
benefit plans are shown below:

Three months ended Six months ended
February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

(In thousands)
Net periodic pension cost included the following
components:
Service cost $988 $737 $1,954 $1,456
Interest cost 1,222 1,314 2,423 2,629
Expected return on plan assets (376 ) (321 ) (753 ) (646 )
Net actuarial loss and net amortization of prior service
cost 378 116 748 230

Recognized gain due to plan curtailment — (209 ) — (209 )
Contractual termination benefits — 79 — 79
Net periodic benefit cost $2,212 $1,716 $4,372 $3,539
Postretirement benefit cost included the following
components:
Service cost $3 $7 $8 $14
Interest cost 112 151 227 303
Net actuarial loss and net amortization of prior service
cost (credit) (136 ) (140 ) (270 ) (280 )

Recognized loss due to plan curtailment — — 333 —
Net periodic benefit cost $(21 ) $18 $298 $37

- 10 -
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A. SCHULMAN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

(7)CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
A summary of the changes in stockholders’ equity for the six months ended February 28, 2013 is as follows: 

Common
Stock ($1
par
value)

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Retained
Earnings

Treasury
Stock

Noncontrolling
Interests

Total
Equity

(In thousands, except per share data)
Balance as of September 1,
2012 $47,958 $259,253 $ (5,921 ) $571,205 $(371,099) $ 6,293 $507,689

Comprehensive income
(loss) 10,803 23,564 530 34,897

Cash dividends paid, $0.39
per share (11,713 ) (11,713 )

Purchase of treasury stock (479 ) (479 )
Issuance of treasury stock 51 169 220
Stock options exercised 63 1,111 1,174
Restricted stock issued, net
of
   forfeitures

84 (84 ) —

Redemption of common
stock to
   cover tax withholdings

(22 ) (375 ) (397 )

Amortization of restricted
stock 2,631 2,631

Balance as of February 28,
2013 $48,083 $262,587 $ 4,882 $583,056 $(371,409) $ 6,823 $534,022

(8)INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS
For a discussion of the Company's incentive stock plans and employee stock purchase plan, refer to Note 10 in the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2012. As of February 28, 2013, there
were 340,857 shares of common stock available for grant pursuant to the Company’s 2006 Incentive Plan and 470,397
shares of common stock available for grant pursuant to the Company's 2010 Rewards Plan.

Restricted stock awards under the Company's 2006 and 2010 plans earn dividends throughout the vesting period
which are subject to the same vesting terms as the underlying stock award. The restricted stock awards outstanding
under these plans have service vesting periods of three years following the date of grant. Also, the Company grants
awards with market and performance vesting conditions. The following table summarizes the activity of time-based
and performance-based restricted stock awards for the six months ended February 28, 2013. 

Awards Outstanding
Weighted-Average
Fair Market Value
(per share)

Time-
Based

Performance-
Based

Time-
Based

Performance-
Based

Outstanding at August 31, 2012 118,395 1,010,743 $22.15 $16.90
Granted 42,921 321,838 $30.52 $26.35
Vested (34,505 ) (7,210 ) $21.84 $14.03
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Forfeited (156 ) (200,902 ) $22.41 $18.37
Outstanding at February 28, 2013 126,655 1,124,469 $25.07 $19.36

Restrictions on the time-based restricted stock awards lapse at the end of a three-year period, and the awards were
valued at the fair market value on the date of grant. Time-based awards earn dividends throughout the vesting period
which are subject to the same vesting terms as the underlying restricted stock awards. The weighted-average grant
date fair value of time-based awards granted during the six months ended February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012
were $30.52 and $22.64 per share, respectively.

Performance shares are awards for which the vesting will occur based on market or performance conditions and do not
have voting rights. Included in the outstanding performance-based awards as of February 28, 2013 are 530,051
performance shares, which earn dividends throughout the vesting period and the remaining performance shares which
do not earn dividends. Earned dividends are subject to the same vesting terms as the underlying performance share
awards.

- 11 -
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The performance-based awards in the table above include 562,160 shares which are valued based upon a Monte Carlo
simulation, which is a valuation model that represents the characteristics of these grants. Vesting of the ultimate
number of shares underlying such performance-based awards, if any, will be dependent upon the Company’s total
stockholder return in relation to the total stockholder return of a select group of peer companies over a three-year
period. The probability of meeting the market criteria was considered when calculating the estimated fair market value
using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The awards granted prior to fiscal 2013 were accounted for as equity awards
with market conditions given that recipients receive shares of stock upon vesting, and expense for these awards is
recognized over the service period regardless of whether the market condition is achieved and the awards ultimately
vest. Awards granted in fiscal 2013 provide recipients an option to receive cash or shares of common stock upon
vesting. As such, the fiscal 2013 awards were accounted for as liability awards with a market condition, and the
Company will measure these awards at fair value on a quarterly basis over the service period.

The fair value of the remaining 562,309 performance shares in the table above is based on the closing price of the
Company’s common stock on the date of the grant. Vesting of the ultimate number of shares underlying such
performance-based awards, if any, will be dependent upon the Company's return on invested capital ("ROIC") in
relation to an internal targeted ROIC over a three-year period.

The weighted-average grant date fair value of the performance shares granted during the six months ended
February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012 was $26.35 and $17.71 per share, respectively.

The fair value of the performance shares granted during the six months ended February 28, 2013 were estimated using
a Monte Carlo simulation model using the following weighted-average assumptions: 
Weighted-Average Assumptions
Expected volatility 37.00 %
Risk-free interest rate 0.39 %
Correlation 58.00 %

The expected volatility assumption was calculated using a historical range to correlate with the award’s vesting period.
The Company used the daily volatility for each company in the peer group to determine a reasonable assumption for
the valuation. The risk-free interest rate is based on zero coupon treasury bond rates corresponding to the expected life
of the awards. In using the Monte Carlo simulation method with this type of grant, a correlation rate of the Company’s
stock price and each of the peer companies is calculated. The Company determined a correlation percentage based on
all correlation rates. The Company has no reason to believe that the expected dividend yield, future stock volatility or
correlation is likely to differ materially from historical patterns.

A summary of stock option activity for the six months ended February 28, 2013 is as follows:
Outstanding
Shares
Under
Option

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price

Outstanding at August 31, 2012 86,955 $18.61
Granted — $—
Exercised (62,785 ) $18.69
Forfeited and expired (3,500 ) $13.99
Outstanding at February 28, 2013 20,670 $19.14
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Exercisable at February 28, 2013 20,670 $19.14

The intrinsic value of a stock option is the amount by which the market value of the underlying stock exceeds the
exercise price of the option. The total intrinsic value for stock options outstanding and exercisable as of February 28,
2013 was approximately $0.3 million with a remaining term for options outstanding and exercisable of 1.9 years. The
total intrinsic value of options exercised as of February 28, 2013 was $0.6 million. All outstanding and exercisable
stock options are fully vested as of February 28, 2013. The Company did not grant stock options in fiscal years 2013
or 2012.

- 12 -
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Total unrecognized compensation cost, including a provision for forfeitures, related to nonvested stock-based
compensation arrangements as of February 28, 2013 was $10.8 million. This cost is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 1.9 years.

The Company had minimal cash-based awards, which are treated as liability awards, outstanding as of February 28,
2013 and $1.5 million outstanding as of August 31, 2012. These awards were granted to foreign employees and
included both time and performance conditions similar to the Company's previously discussed restricted stock awards.
The Company recorded a liability for these cash-based awards equal to the amount of the award vested to date and
adjusted the performance-based awards based on expected payout.

In January 2013, the Company granted non-employee directors 27,860 shares of unrestricted common stock. The
Company recorded compensation expense for this grant of $0.9 million for the three and six months ended
February 28, 2013.

The following table summarizes the impact to the Company’s consolidated statements of operations from stock-based
compensation for the three and six months ended February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012, which is primarily
included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations: 

Three months ended Six months ended
February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

(In thousands)
Time-based awards and performance-based awards $1,041 $971 $1,747 $1,612
Board of Directors unrestricted awards 850 845 850 845
Cash-based awards 49 (159 ) 57 106
Total stock-based compensation $1,940 $1,657 $2,654 $2,563
(9)EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing income available to common stockholders by the weighted-average
number of shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur
if common stock equivalents were exercised and also the impact of restricted stock awards expected to vest, which
combined would then share in the earnings of the Company. 
The difference between basic and diluted weighted-average shares results from the assumed exercise of outstanding
stock options and grants of restricted stock, calculated using the treasury stock method. The following table presents
the number of incremental weighted-average shares used in computing diluted per share amounts:  

Three months ended Six months ended
February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

(In thousands)
Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic 29,293 29,374 29,255 29,396
Incremental shares from equity awards 432 277 413 192
Diluted 29,725 29,651 29,668 29,588
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(10)SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Company considers its operating structure and the types of information subject to regular review by its President
and Chief Executive Officer, who is the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”), to identify reportable segments.
The CODM makes decisions, assesses performance and allocates resources by the following regions, which are also
the Company’s reportable segments: EMEA, the Americas, and Asia Pacific (“APAC”). Each reportable segment has a
General Manager/Chief Operating Officer who reports to the CODM.
The CODM uses net sales to unaffiliated customers, gross profit and operating income before certain items in order to
make decisions, assess performance and allocate resources to each segment. Segment operating income does not
include items such as interest income or expense, other income or expense, foreign currency transaction gains or
losses, restructuring related expenses including accelerated depreciation, asset impairments, or costs and inventory
step-up charges related to business acquisitions. Corporate expenses include the compensation of certain personnel,
certain audit expenses, board of directors related costs, certain insurance costs, costs associated with being a publicly
traded entity and other miscellaneous legal and professional fees.
The following table summarizes net sales to unaffiliated customers by segment:

Three months ended Six months ended
February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

(In thousands)
EMEA $342,198 $332,561 $693,686 $685,452
Americas 144,205 129,646 293,779 257,626
APAC 35,966 33,704 75,456 70,122
Total net sales to unaffiliated customers $522,369 $495,911 $1,062,921 $1,013,200
Below the Company presents gross profit by segment:

Three months ended Six months ended
February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

(In thousands)
EMEA $38,972 $40,076 $83,032 $84,314
Americas 18,485 19,644 39,476 39,523
APAC 5,408 5,426 11,620 10,805
Total segment gross profit 62,865 65,146 134,128 134,642
Inventory step-up — (597 ) (138 ) (597 )
Accelerated depreciation (404 ) — (682 ) —
Total gross profit $62,461 $64,549 $133,308 $134,045
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Below is a reconciliation of segment operating income to operating income and income before taxes:
Three months ended Six months ended
February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

(In thousands)
EMEA $11,521 $15,305 $27,666 $34,540
Americas 5,845 5,343 13,637 11,454
APAC 2,212 2,530 5,294 5,063
Total segment operating income 19,578 23,178 46,597 51,057
Corporate and other (7,512 ) (6,792 ) (13,459 ) (12,372 )
Total operating income before certain items 12,066 16,386 33,138 38,685
Costs related to acquisitions (675 ) (656 ) (987 ) (874 )
Restructuring related (1,669 ) (1,597 ) (3,606 ) (4,841 )
Accelerated depreciation (404 ) — (682 ) —
Asset impairment — — (498 ) —
Curtailment gain (loss) — 209 (333 ) 209
Inventory step-up — (597 ) (138 ) (597 )
Operating income 9,318 13,745 26,894 32,582
Interest expense, net (1,809 ) (2,328 ) (3,380 ) (4,222 )
Foreign currency transaction gains (losses) 9 (17 ) (549 ) (516 )
Other income (expense), net 156 883 291 1,053
Income before taxes $7,674 $12,283 $23,256 $28,897

Globally, the Company operates primarily in five product families: (1) custom performance colors, (2) masterbatch
solutions, (3) engineered plastics, (4) specialty powders and (5) distribution services. The amount and percentage of
consolidated net sales for these product families are as follows: 

Three months ended
February 28, 2013 February 29, 2012
(In thousands, except for %'s)

Custom performance colors $39,831 7 % $28,966 5 %
Masterbatch solutions 180,625 35 171,728 35
Engineered plastics 129,299 25 127,950 26
Specialty powders 77,307 15 80,010 16
Distribution services 95,307 18 87,257 18
Total consolidated net sales $522,369 100 % $495,911 100 %

Six months ended
February 28, 2013 February 29, 2012
(In thousands, except for %'s)

Custom performance colors $78,946 8 % $55,512 6 %
Masterbatch solutions 370,984 35 355,473 35
Engineered plastics 268,841 25 268,245 26
Specialty powders 160,797 15 164,577 16
Distribution services 183,353 17 169,393 17
Total consolidated net sales $1,062,921 100 % $1,013,200 100 %
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(11)RESTRUCTURING
Fiscal 2013 Restructuring Plans
Brazil Consolidation Plan
In the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company initiated restructuring activities to consolidate its two existing
leased manufacturing facilities in the State of Sao Paulo, Brazil into a single new leased manufacturing facility in
Brazil. Manufacturing activities at the existing two facilities will be relocated by the end of the first quarter of fiscal
2014 to the new facility. The Company expects to offer eligible associates the ability to transfer from the two existing
manufacturing facilities to the new facility. As a result of this consolidation, the Company will reduce headcount in
Brazil by approximately 65 in the third quarter of fiscal 2013. Offsetting this reduction of headcount will be the
addition of approximately 45 associates at the Company's new Brazil manufacturing facility including associate
transfers and new hires. In the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company recorded $0.3 million of pre-tax
employee-related restructuring costs, which remain accrued as of February 28, 2013, and $0.3 million of accelerated
depreciation included in cost of sales. The Company expects to recognize additional pretax employee-related and
other cash charges of approximately $1.2 million, as well as additional accelerated depreciation of approximately $0.3
million, during the remainder of fiscal 2013. Cash payments associated with this plan are expected to occur through
fiscal 2014 as the plan is completed.
EMEA Continued Reorganization Plan
During the first six months of fiscal 2013, the Company executed restructuring activities to better reflect its current
business footprint and needs in the challenging economic environment in Europe and the continued reorganization of
the Company's Custom Performance Colors and Masterbatch Solutions product families. As part of this restructuring,
the EMEA regional team plans to reduce headcount by approximately 20 with half of the reductions occurring in the
first quarter of fiscal 2013. The Company recorded $1.0 million and $2.4 million of pretax employee-related
restructuring costs during the three and six months ended February 28, 2013, respectively. As of February 28, 2013,
the Company has a balance of $1.4 million accrued for employee-related costs related to this plan. The Company
expects to recognize additional pretax employee-related cash charges of approximately $0.3 million during the
remainder of fiscal 2013. Cash payments associated with this plan are expected to occur through the third quarter of
fiscal 2014 as the plan is completed.
Bellevue, Ohio Facility Plan
Additionally in the first quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company sold its Bellevue, Ohio facility to continue its focus on
higher-value technical products. As part of this sale, the Company recorded $0.1 million and $0.3 million of pretax
employee-related costs and other restructuring expenses during the three and six months ended February 28, 2013,
respectively, and $0.1 million and $0.4 million of accelerated depreciation during the three and six months ended
February 28, 2013, respectively. As of February 28, 2013, the Company has a balance of $0.1 million accrued for
employee-related costs related to this plan. The Company anticipates recognizing approximately $1.0 million of other
pretax restructuring expenses during the remainder of fiscal 2013 and into fiscal 2014. Cash payments associated with
this plan are expected to occur through fiscal 2014 as the plan is completed.
Fiscal 2012 Restructuring Plans
Masterbatch Reorganization Plan
In August 2012, the Company conducted an extensive evaluation of its three regional segments and specifically
focused on each region's masterbatch product family. As a result of this evaluation, the Company realigned its
regional masterbatch product family to put greater focus on its growth opportunities. Therefore, within each regional
segment, effective September 1, 2012 the masterbatch product family was split into two separate product families,
Custom Performance Colors and Masterbatch Solutions. As part of this plan, the Company reduced headcount in the
EMEA and APAC regions in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012. The Company recorded minimal charges related to this
plan during the first half of fiscal 2013. As of February 28, 2013, the Company has a balance of $2.0 million accrued
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plan is completed.
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EMEA Operations and Back-Office Plan
In November 2011, the Company initiated a restructuring plan of EMEA’s operations and back-office functions to
better leverage savings from its Shared Service Center located in Belgium. As part of this plan, the Company reduced
headcount in EMEA by approximately 50, and the majority of the reductions occurred in the first and second quarters
of fiscal 2012. The Company recorded no charges related to this plan during the three months ended February 28,
2013 and $0.3 million of pretax employee-related restructuring costs during the six months ended February 28, 2013.
The Company recorded $1.2 million and $3.9 million of pretax employee-related restructuring costs during the three
and six months ended February 29, 2012, respectively. As of February 28, 2013, the Company has a balance of $0.3
million accrued for employee-related costs related to this plan. The Company expects minimal employee-related
charges related to this plan during the remainder of fiscal 2013. Cash payments associated with this plan are expected
to occur through fiscal 2014 as the plan is completed.
Fiscal 2011 Restructuring Plan
Americas Engineered Plastics Plan
On August 25, 2011, the Company announced that it would close the Nashville, Tennessee facility and move
production to existing facilities in order to optimize the use of capacity and capitalize on growth opportunities. As of
the end of February 2012, the Nashville facility ceased production and the Company reduced headcount by
approximately 70, with the majority of the reductions occurring in the second quarter of fiscal 2012. The Company
recorded minimal charges during the first half of fiscal 2013, and $0.3 million and $0.5 million of pretax
employee-related restructuring expense during the three and six months ended February 29, 2012, respectively. As of
February 28, 2013, the Company has a balance of $0.2 million accrued for employee-related costs related to this plan.
The Company expects minimal charges related to this plan to be recognized during the remainder of fiscal 2013. Cash
payments associated with this plan are expected to occur through fiscal 2013 as the plan is completed.
Consolidated Restructuring Summary
The following table summarizes the activity during fiscal 2013 related to the Company’s restructuring plans: 

Accrual Balance
August 31, 2012

Fiscal 2013
Charges

Fiscal 2013
Paid

Accrual Balance
February 28,
2013

(In thousands)
Employee-related costs $3,524 $3,194 $(2,164 ) 4,554
Other costs 381 412 (350 ) 443
Translation effect (539 ) — — (500 )
Total $3,366 $3,606 $(2,514 ) $4,497
Restructuring expenses are excluded from segment operating income but are attributable to the reportable segments as
follows: 

Three months ended Six months ended
February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

(In thousands)
EMEA $1,138 $1,285 $2,695 $4,346
Americas 517 312 731 495
APAC 14 — 180 —
Total restructuring expense $1,669 $1,597 $3,606 $4,841
(12)ASSET IMPAIRMENTS
The Company recorded $0.5 million in asset impairments during the first quarter of fiscal 2013 primarily related to the
remeasurement of the carrying value of its facility in Oyonnax, France, which is held for sale, at fair value of $0.7
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based on information provided by a third-party real estate valuation source. No asset impairments were recorded
during the second quarter of fiscal 2013 or the first half of fiscal 2012.
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(13)COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
In the normal course of business, the Company is at times subject to pending and threatened legal actions, some for
which the relief or damages sought may be substantial. Although the Company is not able to predict the outcome of
such legal actions, after reviewing all pending and threatened legal actions with counsel and based on information
currently available, management believes that the outcome of such actions, individually or in the aggregate, will not
have a material adverse effect on the results of operations or financial position of the Company. However, it is
possible that the ultimate resolution of such matters, if unfavorable, may be material to the results of operations in a
particular future period as the time and amount of any resolution of such legal actions and its relationship to the future
results of operations are not currently known.
Reserves are established for legal claims only when losses associated with the claims are judged to be probable, and
the loss can be reasonably estimated. In many lawsuits and arbitrations, it is not considered probable that a liability
has been incurred or not possible to estimate the ultimate or minimum amount of that liability until the case is close to
resolution, in which case no reserve would be recognized until that time.
Excluding cash paid of $36.4 million for the acquisition of ECM Plastics, Inc. and $1.8 million for the settlement of
the Company's uncertain tax position, as of February 28, 2013 there were no material changes to the Company’s future
contractual obligations as previously reported in the Company’s 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended August 31, 2012.
(14)SHARE REPURCHASE PROGRAM
The Company did not repurchase any shares of common stock during the second quarter of fiscal 2013. The Company
repurchased 20,089 shares of common stock during the first quarter of fiscal 2013 at an average price of $23.83 per
share. Shares valued at $64.2 million remain authorized for repurchase as of February 28, 2013. For further discussion
of the Company's share repurchase program, refer to Note 18 in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended August 31, 2012.
(15)ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
In June 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued new accounting guidance related to the presentation of
comprehensive income in consolidated financial statements. The new accounting guidance requires the presentation of
the components of net income and other comprehensive income either in a single continuous financial statement, or in
two separate but consecutive financial statements. The accounting standard eliminates the option to present other
comprehensive income and its components as part of the statement of stockholders’ equity. This standard was effective
for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2011, including interim periods. The Company adopted this standard for
the first quarter of fiscal 2013.
No other new accounting pronouncements issued or with effective dates during fiscal 2013 had or are expected to
have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
(16)SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On March 4, 2013, the Company announced that it made a proposal to the Board of Directors of Ferro Corporation
("Ferro") to acquire all of the outstanding shares of Ferro common stock for per-share consideration of $6.50,
representing an estimated total enterprise value of approximately $855 million including total indebtedness. The total
enterprise value will vary based on Ferro's total debt value at closing of the proposed transaction. The Company's
proposed offer price of $6.50 per share is comprised of an immediate cash payment of $3.25 for each Ferro share
outstanding and $3.25 worth of A. Schulman common stock. Ferro's Board of Directors rejected the Company's offer
and expressed their belief that Ferro should remain independent. The Company continues to engage Ferro's
shareholders in an effort to enter into a mutually beneficial dialog with Ferro's Board of Directors.
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Item 2 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”) is intended to
help investors understand our results of operations, financial condition and current business environment. The MD&A
is provided as a supplement to, and should be read in conjunction with, our unaudited consolidated financial
statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report and the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2012. The MD&A is organized as follows:

• Overview: From management’s point of view, we discuss the
following:

◦Summary of our business and the markets in which we operate;

◦ Key trends, developments and
challenges; and

◦Significant events during the current fiscal year.
•Results of Operations: An analysis of our results of operations as reflected in our consolidated financial statements.

•Liquidity and Capital Resources: An analysis of our cash flows, working capital, debt structure, contractualobligations and other commercial commitments.
Overview
Business Summary
A. Schulman, Inc. is a leading international supplier of high-performance plastic compounds and resins headquartered
in Akron, Ohio. The Company’s customers span a wide range of markets such as packaging, mobility, building and
construction, electronics and electrical, agriculture, personal care and hygiene, custom services, and sports, leisure and
home. The Chief Operating Decision Maker makes decisions, assesses performance and allocates resources by the
following regions which represent our reportable segments:
•Europe, Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”),
•Americas, and
•Asia Pacific (“APAC”).
The Company has approximately 3,300 employees and 34 manufacturing facilities worldwide. Globally, the Company
operates primarily in five product families: (1) custom performance colors, (2) masterbatch solutions, (3) engineered
plastics, (4) specialty powders, and (5) distribution services. The Company offers tolling services to customers in all
product families except for distribution services.
Throughout this MD&A, the Company provides operating results exclusive of certain items such as costs related to
acquisitions, restructuring related expenses and asset write-downs, which are considered relevant to aid analysis and
understanding of the Company’s results and business trends.
Key Trends, Developments and Challenges
We are successfully executing our growth strategy, which is a set of initiatives aimed at increasing our ability to
leverage our innovative products into different geographic markets, explore adjacent markets and applications, and
continually improve the profitability of the Company's product mix.
The following developments and trends present opportunities, challenges and risks as we work toward our goal of
providing attractive returns for all of our stakeholders:

•
Cross Selling. We engage in the cross selling of all of our products through the collaborative efforts and training of
our sales teams. We encourage cross selling between different product families and promote cross regional sales to
better service our valued customers.

•

Development of New Products. We are dedicated to the development of new, higher-margin products and applications
that optimize the appearance, performance, and processing of plastics to meet our customers' specifications. We strive
to maintain a balanced position between low-cost production and technological leadership with focused application
development. We are also committed to continuing our growth in high value-added markets and reducing our
exposure to commodity markets. We look to enhance our efforts through strategic collaborations with leading
innovators in key markets.
•Innovation Centers. We have two Innovation Centers in Mexico and Germany which promote collaborative
partnerships between A. Schulman and our customers, suppliers and other technical organizations. These Centers
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research and development activities that align our technical and product development capabilities with the emerging
needs of our customers and end markets.

•Adjacent Markets. While we remain a leader in markets such as packaging and niche automotive, we are committed to
identifying and pursuing adjacent markets for our products that have sustainable growth opportunities.

•
Purchasing and Pricing. We are seeking opportunities to continue our savings on purchasing and to optimize pricing
strategies to align with our purchasing strategies. We continue to leverage our global volume base to enhance savings
and are searching for alternate sourcing from the Middle East and Asia.

•
Continuous Improvement. The Company's Six Sigma Black Belt and Green Belt associates continue to look for ways
to improve our processes and optimize our performance. We are also determined to control our selling, general and
administrative expenses, especially in developed markets.

•Acquisitions and Joint Ventures. We continue to seek acquisitions that are within our core capabilities, fit our
strategic goals, expand our technical capabilities and contribute to our profitability.
Fiscal Year 2013 Significant Events
In addition to the items discussed above, the following items represent significant events during the first half of fiscal
2013:

1.

Dividend Activities. In October 2012, the Company increased its regular quarterly cash dividend by approximately
2.6% to $0.195 per common share. Additionally, in December 2012, the Board declared early payment of the
Company's regular quarterly cash dividend to be payable to shareholders on December 31, 2012. This reflected the
Company's confidence in its ability to generate cash and its long-term growth prospects, along with a continued
commitment to shareholders.

2.

Business Acquisition. On September 4, 2012, the Company acquired ECM Plastics, Inc., a privately owned, leading
plastics compounder located in Worcester, Massachusetts, for $36.4 million. ECM Plastics, Inc. is a producer of
custom color, specialty additive masterbatch and niche engineered plastics products with a strong presence in the
personal care and cosmetics product markets.

3.

Masterbatch Reorganization. In August 2012, the Company conducted an extensive evaluation of its three regional
segments and specifically focused on each region's masterbatch product family. As a result of this evaluation, the
Company realigned its regional masterbatch product family to put greater focus on its growth opportunities.
Therefore, within each regional segment, effective September 1, 2012, the masterbatch product family was split into
two separate product families, Custom Performance Colors and Masterbatch Solutions.

4.

Fiscal 2013 Restructuring. In November 2012, the Company finalized the sale of its Bellevue, Ohio facility to
continue its focus on higher-value technical products. This sale marked the completion of a transformation away
from legacy plants that primarily served the volume automotive market. During the first six months of fiscal 2013,
the Company executed a restructuring plan in the EMEA selling and administrative organizations in response to the
current economic climate. Furthermore, in the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company initiated restructuring
activities to consolidate its existing two leased manufacturing facilities in the State of Sao Paulo, Brazil into a single
new leased manufacturing facility in Brazil.

5.

Global ROIC Initiative. During the first quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company introduced a global initiative to
improve return on invested capital ("ROIC") by better understanding the components of ROIC through web-based
trainings and simulations. This will enable our associates to drive increased returns in their everyday
responsibilities.

6.

Global ERP Project. In July 2012, the Company announced it would be converging all of its information systems to
a common Enterprise Resource Planning ("ERP") system which will provide for common business practices and
enhanced global operational visibility. This ERP conversion project will be conducted in a phased approach which
will take several years to complete. The Company is currently in the design stage.

7.
Marketing Initiatives. During the first six months of fiscal 2013, the Company continued to align its markets with
megatrends, high value segments and adjacent markets. The Company is also upgrading its global strategic pricing
tools to ensure the Company is obtaining maximum value for both its products and services.

8.Offer To Acquire Ferro Corporation. On March 4, 2013, the Company announced that it made a proposal to the
Board of Directors of Ferro Corporation ("Ferro") to acquire all of the outstanding shares of Ferro common stock.
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Results of Operations
Segment Information

Three months ended
Favorable (unfavorable)

EMEA February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012 Increase (decrease) FX Impact Excluding FX

(In thousands, except for %’s and per pound data)
Net sales $342,198 $332,561 $9,637 2.9  % $5,841 1.1  %
Gross profit $38,972 $40,076 $(1,104 ) (2.8 )% $727 (4.6 )%
Operating income $11,521 $15,305 $(3,784 ) (24.7 )% $359 (27.1 )%
Pounds sold 281,699 286,795 (5,096 ) (1.8 )%
Price per pound $1.215 $1.160 $0.055 4.7  % $0.021 2.9  %
Gross profit percentage 11.4 % 12.1 %
Operating income per pound $0.041 $0.053 $(0.012 ) (22.6 )% $0.001 (24.5 )%
Three months ended February 28, 2013 
EMEA net sales for the three months ended February 28, 2013 were $342.2 million, an increase of $9.6 million, or
2.9%, compared with the prior-year period. Foreign currency translation favorably impacted net sales by $5.8 million.
The Elian acquisition provided $6.2 million and 2.0 million pounds in incremental net sales and volume, respectively.
Price per pound increased 4.7% to $1.215 per pound primarily related to the specialty powders and distribution
services product families which substantially offset the customer demand driven volume decline of 1.8%.
EMEA gross profit was $39.0 million for the three months ended February 28, 2013, a decrease of $1.1 million
compared with the same prior-year period. Foreign currency translation favorably impacted gross profit by $0.7
million. The positive contribution of the Elian acquisition was more than offset by the challenging economic
environment in Europe.
EMEA operating income for the three months ended February 28, 2013 was $11.5 million, a decrease of $3.8 million
compared with the same period last year. Foreign currency translation positively impacted EMEA operating income
by $0.4 million. The decrease in operating income was primarily due to a $2.7 million increase in selling, general and
administrative ("SG&A") expenses which was driven by increased compensation and benefits expense of $1.3 million
and increased bad debt expense of $0.9 million. Additionally, SG&A was negatively impacted by the incremental
expenses from Elian and $0.4 million of foreign currency translation.

Six months ended
Favorable (unfavorable)

EMEA February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012 Increase (decrease) FX Impact Excluding

FX
(In thousands, except for %’s and per pound data)

Net sales $693,686 $685,452 $8,234 1.2  % $(10,664 ) 2.8  %
Gross profit $83,032 $84,314 $(1,282 ) (1.5 )% $(1,386 ) 0.1  %
Operating income $27,666 $34,540 $(6,874 ) (19.9 )% $(483 ) (18.5 )%
Pounds sold 571,730 573,092 (1,362 ) (0.2 )%
Price per pound $1.213 $1.196 $0.017 1.4  % $(0.019 ) 3.0  %
Gross profit percentage 12.0 % 12.3 %
Operating income per pound $0.048 $0.060 $(0.012 ) (20.0 )% $(0.001 ) (18.3 )%
Six months ended February 28, 2013 
EMEA net sales for the six months ended February 28, 2013 were $693.7 million, an increase of $8.2 million, or
1.2%, compared with the prior-year period. Excluding the negative impact of foreign currency translation of $10.7
million, net sales increased $18.9 million which includes $15.8 million and 4.8 million pounds in incremental net sales
and volume, respectively, from Elian. The increase in price per pound, primarily in the specialty powders and
distribution services product families, more than offset
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the slight decline in volume. Excluding foreign currency translation, price per pound increased 3.0% to $1.232 per
pound compared with the prior-year period.
EMEA gross profit was $83.0 million for the six months ended February 28, 2013, a decrease of $1.3 million
compared with the same six-month period last year. The positive contribution of the Elian acquisition was more than
offset by the challenging economic environment in Europe and the adverse impact of foreign currency translation of
$1.4 million.
EMEA operating income for the six months ended February 28, 2013 was $27.7 million, a decrease of $6.9 million
compared with the same six-month period last year. The decrease in operating income was primarily due to a $5.6
million increase in SG&A expenses which was driven by increased compensation and benefits expense of $2.2 million
and increased bad debt expense of $1.4 million. Additionally, SG&A expenses were negatively impacted by the
incremental expenses from Elian partially offset by a favorable impact of $0.9 million from foreign currency
translation. Operating income per pound decreased 20.0% to $0.048 per pound primarily due to the aforementioned
economic environment in Europe and increased SG&A expenses, while foreign currency translation adversely
impacted EMEA operating income by $0.5 million.

Three months ended
Favorable (unfavorable)

Americas February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012 Increase (decrease) FX Impact Excluding

FX
(In thousands, except for %’s and per pound data)

Net sales $144,205 $129,646 $14,559 11.2  % $(404 ) 11.5  %
Gross profit $18,485 $19,644 $(1,159 ) (5.9 )% $(27 ) (5.8 )%
Operating income $5,845 $5,343 $502 9.4  % $206 5.5  %
Pounds sold 156,812 143,209 13,603 9.5  %
Price per pound $0.920 $0.905 $0.015 1.7  % $(0.002 ) 1.9  %
Gross profit percentage 12.8 % 15.2 %
Operating income per pound $0.037 $0.037 $— —  % $0.001 (2.7 )%
Three months ended February 28, 2013 
Net sales for the Americas for the three months ended February 28, 2013 were $144.2 million, an increase of $14.6
million or 11.2% compared with the prior-year period, as all product families realized increased volumes. Incremental
net sales and volume from the ECM Plastics, Inc. acquisition were $9.2 million and 8.1 million pounds during the
second quarter of fiscal 2013, respectively. The Americas experienced an increase in price per pound in the custom
performance color and masterbatch solutions product families which more than offset a decline in price per pound in
the other product families. Foreign currency translation negatively impacted net sales by $0.4 million.
Gross profit for the Americas was $18.5 million for the three months ended February 28, 2013, a decrease of $1.2
million from the comparable period last year. The decrease in gross profit of 5.9% was primarily due to the
unfavorable mix in the specialty powders product family combined with competitive pricing pressure and increased
labor costs in anticipation of increases in regional demand in Mexico. This was partially offset by the positive
contribution of ECM Plastics, Inc. and increased volume.
Operating income for the Americas for the three months ended February 28, 2013 was $5.8 million compared with
$5.3 million last year. Operating income increased primarily due to the $1.7 million decrease in SG&A expenses. The
decline in SG&A expenses was primarily due to successful restructuring initiatives and cost control efforts combined
with reduced incentive compensation expense, partially offset by incremental expenses from ECM Plastics, Inc.
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Six months ended
Favorable (unfavorable)

Americas February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012 Increase (decrease) FX Impact Excluding

FX
(In thousands, except for %’s and per pound data)

Net sales $293,779 $257,626 $36,153 14.0  % $(1,310 ) 14.5 %
Gross profit $39,476 $39,523 $(47 ) (0.1 )% $(143 ) 0.2 %
Operating income $13,637 $11,454 $2,183 19.1  % $290 16.5 %
Pounds sold 316,648 283,710 32,938 11.6  %
Price per pound $0.928 $0.908 $0.020 2.2  % $(0.004 ) 2.6 %
Gross profit percentage 13.4 % 15.3 %
Operating income per pound $0.043 $0.040 $0.003 7.5  % $0.001 5.0 %
Six months ended February 28, 2013 
Net sales for the Americas for the six months ended February 28, 2013 were $293.8 million, an increase of $36.2
million or 14.0% compared with the prior-year period, as all product families realized increased volumes. Incremental
net sales and volumes from the ECM Plastics, Inc. acquisition were $17.9 million and 16.1 million pounds during the
six months ended February 28, 2013, respectively. The Americas experienced an increase in price per pound in the
custom performance color and masterbatch solutions product families which more than offset a decline in price per
pound in the other product families. Foreign currency translation negatively impacted net sales by $1.3 million.
Gross profit for the Americas was $39.5 million for the six months ended February 28, 2013, which was consistent
with the same six-month period last year. The positive contribution of volume improvement and the ECM Plastics,
Inc. acquisition was offset by competitive pricing pressure, an unfavorable mix in the specialty powders product
family and increased manufacturing costs related to adding capacity to meet regional demand in Mexico.
Operating income for the Americas for the six months ended February 28, 2013 was $13.6 million compared with
$11.5 million last year. Operating income increased primarily due to the $2.2 million decrease in SG&A expenses and
a favorable impact of $0.3 million from foreign currency translation. The decline in SG&A expenses was primarily
due to successful restructuring initiatives and cost control efforts combined with reduced incentive compensation
expense, partially offset by the incremental expenses from ECM Plastics, Inc. Operating income per pound increased
7.5% to $0.043 per pound primarily related to a favorable mix in the engineered plastics product family.

Three months ended
Favorable (unfavorable)

APAC February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012 Increase (decrease) FX Impact Excluding FX

(In thousands, except for %’s and per pound data)
Net sales $35,966 $33,704 $2,262 6.7  % $212 6.1  %
Gross profit $5,408 $5,426 $(18 ) (0.3 )% $53 (1.3 )%
Operating income $2,212 $2,530 $(318 ) (12.6 )% $53 (14.7 )%
Pounds sold 28,333 28,712 (379 ) (1.3 )%
Price per pound $1.269 $1.174 $0.095 8.1  % $0.007 7.5  %
Gross profit percentage 15.0 % 16.1 %
Operating income per pound $0.078 $0.088 $(0.010 ) (11.4 )% $0.002 (13.6 )%
Three months ended February 28, 2013 
Net sales for APAC for the three months ended February 28, 2013 were $36.0 million, an increase of $2.3 million
compared with the same prior-year period primarily due to increased price per pound in the masterbatch solutions and
specialty powders product families, which more than offset the decreased volume and an increasingly competitive
business environment.
Gross profit for APAC for the three months ended February 28, 2013 was $5.4 million, which was consistent with the
same three-month period last year. Despite an unfavorable mix in the specialty powders product family and an
increasingly competitive business environment, the region was able to maintain its gross profit levels in light of these
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APAC operating income for the three months ended February 28, 2013 was $2.2 million compared with $2.5 million
last year. The decrease in profitability was principally due to an increase of $0.3 million in SG&A expenses mainly
related to the establishment of the APAC regional office in Hong Kong. Operating income per pound decreased 11.4%
to $0.078 primarily due to the increase in SG&A expenses.

Six months ended
Favorable (unfavorable)

APAC February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012 Increase (decrease) FX Impact Excluding

FX
(In thousands, except for %’s and per pound data)

Net sales $75,456 $70,122 $5,334 7.6 % $568 6.8 %
Gross profit $11,620 $10,805 $815 7.5 % $111 6.5 %
Operating income $5,294 $5,063 $231 4.6 % $82 2.9 %
Pounds sold 59,429 58,196 1,233 2.1 %
Price per pound $1.270 $1.205 $0.065 5.4 % $0.010 4.6 %
Gross profit percentage 15.4 % 15.4 %
Operating income per pound $0.089 $0.087 $0.002 2.3 % $0.001 1.1 %
Six months ended February 28, 2013 
Net sales for APAC for the six months ended February 28, 2013 were $75.5 million, an increase of $5.3 million
compared with the same prior-year period primarily due to increased price per pound in the masterbatch solutions and
specialty powders product families combined with increased volume in the engineered plastics and specialty powders
product families. Foreign currency translation favorably impacted net sales by $0.6 million.
Gross profit for APAC for the six months ended February 28, 2013 was $11.6 million, an increase of 7.5% compared
with last year. The increase in gross profit was primarily due to the 5.4% increase in price per pound combined with a
continued focus on products with higher technical requirements.
APAC operating income for the six months ended February 28, 2013 was $5.3 million compared with $5.1 million
last year. The increase in profitability was principally due to the increase in gross profit partially offset by an increase
of $0.6 million in SG&A expenses mainly related to the establishment of the APAC regional office in Hong Kong.
Operating income per pound increased 2.3% to $0.089 primarily due to the aforementioned focus on products with
higher technical requirements.

Three months ended
Favorable (unfavorable)

Consolidated February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012 Increase (decrease) FX Impact Excluding

FX
(In thousands, except for %’s and per pound data)

Net sales $522,369 $ 495,911 $26,458 5.3  % $5,649 4.2  %
Operating income $9,318 $ 13,745 $(4,427 ) (32.2 )% $607 (36.6 )%
Total operating income before certain
items * $12,066 $ 16,386 $(4,320 ) (26.4 )% $618 (30.1 )%

Pounds sold 466,844 458,716 8,128 1.8  %
Price per pound $1.119 $ 1.081 $0.038 3.5  % $0.012 2.4  %
Total operating income per pound
before certain items * $0.026 $ 0.036 $(0.010 ) (27.8 )% $0.001 (30.6 )%

 * - For a reconciliation of total operating income before certain items to operating income and income before taxes,
refer to Note 10 of this Form 10-Q.
Three months ended February 28, 2013 
The increase of $26.5 million in consolidated net sales for the three months ended February 28, 2013 compared with
the prior-year period was primarily a result of incremental net sales and volume from the Elian and ECM Plastics, Inc.
acquisitions of $15.4 million and 10.1 million pounds, respectively. Net sales were favorably impacted by the 3.5%
increase in price per pound and a $5.6 million favorable impact of foreign currency translation.
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The Company’s SG&A expenses increased $2.0 million for the three months ended February 28, 2013 compared with
the same period in the prior year, excluding acquisition costs of $0.7 million for both the three months ended
February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012. The increase was primarily attributable to an incremental impact of $1.9
million from recent acquisitions and higher bad debt expense of $0.4 million, partially offset by a decrease in
incentive compensation expense of $0.9 million.
Total operating income, before certain items, for the three months ended February 28, 2013 was $12.1 million, a
decrease of $4.3 million compared with last year, primarily due to a $2.3 million decrease in gross profit and the
aforementioned increase in SG&A expense. Foreign currency translation had a positive impact on operating income of
$0.6 million.

Six months ended
Favorable (unfavorable)

Consolidated February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012 Increase (decrease) FX Impact Excluding

FX
(In thousands, except for %’s and per pound data)

Net sales $1,062,921 $1,013,200 $49,721 4.9  % $(11,406 ) 6.0  %
Operating income $26,894 $32,582 $(5,688 ) (17.5 )% $(119 ) (17.1 )%
Total operating income before
certain items * $33,138 $38,685 $(5,547 ) (14.3 )% $(111 ) (14.1 )%

Pounds sold 947,807 914,998 32,809 3.6  %
Price per pound $1.121 $1.107 $0.014 1.3  % $(0.012 ) 2.4  %
Total operating income per pound
before certain items * $0.035 $0.042 $(0.007 ) (16.7 )% $— (16.7 )%

 * - For a reconciliation of total operating income before certain items to operating income and income before taxes,
refer to Note 10 of this Form 10-Q.
Six months ended February 28, 2013 
The increase of $49.7 million in consolidated net sales for the six months ended February 28, 2013 compared with the
prior-year period was primarily a result of incremental net sales and volume from the Elian and ECM Plastics, Inc.
acquisitions of $33.7 million and 20.9 million pounds, respectively. Net sales were favorably impacted by the 1.3%
increase in price per pound offset by an $11.4 million unfavorable impact of foreign currency translation.
The Company’s SG&A expenses increased $5.0 million for the six months ended February 28, 2013 compared with
the same period in the prior year, excluding acquisition costs of $1.0 million and $0.9 million for the six months ended
February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012, respectively. The increase was primarily attributable to an incremental
impact of $4.0 million from recent acquisitions and bad debt expense of $0.9 million. In addition, the Company
invested in global marketing related initiatives, strategic planning in the APAC region, the establishment of the APAC
regional headquarters in Hong Kong and the global ERP project which was partially offset by savings from successful
restructuring initiatives and cost control efforts. Foreign currency translation favorably impacted SG&A expense by
$1.3 million.
Total operating income, before certain items, for the six months ended February 28, 2013 was $33.1 million, a
decrease of $5.5 million compared with last year, primarily due to increased SG&A expense.
Additional consolidated results
The Company recorded asset impairment charges of $0.5 million during the first quarter of fiscal 2013 primarily
related to the write-down to estimated fair value of the Company's facility in Oyonnax, France, further discussed in
Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report. No asset impairments were recorded during
the second quarter of fiscal 2013 or the first half of fiscal 2012.
Interest expense, net of interest income, decreased $0.5 million and $0.8 million for the three and six months ended
February 28, 2013, respectively, as compared with the same periods in the prior year.
Foreign currency transaction gains or losses represent changes in the value of currencies in major areas where the
Company operates. The Company experienced minimal foreign currency transaction gains and losses for the three
months ended February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012, respectively. Additionally, the Company experienced foreign
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Generally, the foreign currency transaction gains or losses relate to the changes in the value of the U.S. dollar
compared with the Euro and other local currencies throughout the Americas, EMEA, and APAC regions, and also
changes between the Euro and other non-Euro European currencies. The Company enters into foreign exchange
forward contracts to reduce the impact of changes in foreign exchange rates on the consolidated
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statements of operations. These contracts reduce exposure to currency movements affecting the translation of foreign
currency denominated assets and liabilities primarily related to trade receivables and payables. Any gains or losses
associated with these contracts, as well as the offsetting gains or losses from the underlying assets or liabilities, are
recognized on the foreign currency transaction line in the consolidated statements of operations. There were no
foreign exchange forward contracts designated as hedging instruments as of February 28, 2013 and August 31, 2012.
Other income for the three and six months ended February 28, 2013 was $0.2 million and $0.3 million, respectively,
compared with other income of $0.9 million and $1.1 million for the three and six months ended February 29, 2012,
respectively. There were no individually significant transactions during the six months ended February 28, 2013 and
February 29, 2012.
Noncontrolling interests represent a 49% equity position of Alta Plastica S.A. in an Argentinean venture with the
Company and a 35% equity position of P.T. Prima Polycon Indah in an Indonesian joint venture with the Company.
Effective December 31, 2011, the Company’s partnership with Mitsubishi Chemical MKV Company, which held a
30% equity position, was dissolved by a vote of the partners.
Net income attributable to the Company’s stockholders was $11.8 million and $9.1 million for the three months ended
February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012, respectively. Net income attributable to the Company's stockholders was
$23.6 million and $22.7 million for the six months ended February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012, respectively.
Foreign currency translation had a positive impact of $0.4 million and a negative impact of $0.1 million on net income
for the three and six months ended February 28, 2013, respectively.
Product Families
Globally, the Company operates primarily in five product families: (1) custom performance colors, (2) masterbatch
solutions, (3) engineered plastics, (4) specialty powders and (5) distribution services. The amount and percentage of
consolidated net sales for these product families are as follows:

Three months ended
February 28, 2013 February 29, 2012
(In thousands, except for %'s)

Custom performance colors $39,831 7 % $28,966 5 %
Masterbatch solutions 180,625 35 171,728 35
Engineered plastics 129,299 25 127,950 26
Specialty powders 77,307 15 80,010 16
Distribution services 95,307 18 87,257 18
Total consolidated net sales $522,369 100 % $495,911 100 %

Six months ended
February 28, 2013 February 29, 2012
(In thousands, except for %'s)

Custom performance colors $78,946 8 % $55,512 6 %
Masterbatch solutions 370,984 35 355,473 35
Engineered plastics 268,841 25 268,245 26
Specialty powders 160,797 15 164,577 16
Distribution services 183,353 17 169,393 17
Total consolidated net sales $1,062,921 100 % $1,013,200 100 %
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Capacity
The Company’s practical capacity is not based on a theoretical 24-hour, seven-day operation, rather it is determined as
the production level at which the manufacturing facilities can operate with an acceptable degree of efficiency, taking
into consideration factors such as longer term customer demand, permanent staffing levels, operating shifts, holidays,
scheduled maintenance and mix of product. Capacity utilization is calculated by dividing actual production pounds by
practical capacity at each plant. A comparison of capacity utilization levels are as follows: 

Three months ended Six months ended
February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

February 28,
2013

February 29,
2012

EMEA 70 % 74 % 75 % 78 %
Americas 61 % 67 % 64 % 65 %
APAC 69 % 76 % 73 % 81 %
Worldwide 66 % 71 % 70 % 72 %
In fiscal 2013, the Company’s APAC segment experienced lower capacity utilization as additional manufacturing
capacity was added to meet anticipated demand in the region. In addition, the Americas capacity utilization was higher
in the second quarter of fiscal 2012 as compared to fiscal 2013 to meet short-term customer needs as a result of the
shut-down of the Nashville, Tennessee facility and the related movement of production to the Akron and Bellevue,
Ohio plants.
Restructuring
Fiscal 2013 Restructuring Plans
Brazil Consolidation Plan
In the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company initiated restructuring activities to consolidate its two existing
leased manufacturing facilities in the State of Sao Paulo, Brazil into a single new leased manufacturing facility in
Brazil. Manufacturing activities at the existing two facilities will be relocated by the end of the first quarter of fiscal
2014 to the new facility. The Company expects to offer eligible associates the ability to transfer from the two existing
manufacturing facilities to the new facility. As a result of this consolidation, the Company will reduce headcount in
Brazil by approximately 65 in the third quarter of fiscal 2013. Offsetting this reduction of headcount will be the
addition of approximately 45 associates at the Company's new Brazil manufacturing facility including associate
transfers and new hires. In the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company recorded $0.3 million of pre-tax
employee-related restructuring costs, which remain accrued as of February 28, 2013, and $0.3 million of accelerated
depreciation included in cost of sales. The Company expects to recognize additional pretax employee-related and
other cash charges of approximately $1.2 million, as well as additional accelerated depreciation of approximately $0.3
million, during the remainder of fiscal 2013. Cash payments associated with this plan are expected to occur through
fiscal 2014 as the plan is completed. 
EMEA Continued Reorganization Plan
During the first six months of fiscal 2013, the Company executed restructuring activities to better reflect its current
business footprint and needs in the challenging economic environment in Europe and the continued reorganization of
the Company's Custom Performance Colors and Masterbatch Solutions product families. As part of this restructuring,
the EMEA regional team plans to reduce headcount by approximately 20 with half of the reductions occurring in the
first quarter of fiscal 2013. The Company recorded $1.0 million and $2.4 million of pretax employee-related
restructuring costs during the three and six months ended February 28, 2013, respectively. As of February 28, 2013,
the Company has a balance of $1.4 million accrued for employee-related costs related to this plan. The Company
expects to recognize additional pretax employee-related cash charges of approximately $0.3 million during the
remainder of fiscal 2013. Cash payments associated with this plan are expected to occur through the third quarter of
fiscal 2014 as the plan is completed. 
Bellevue, Ohio Facility Plan
Additionally in the first quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company sold its Bellevue, Ohio facility to continue its focus on
higher-value technical products. As part of this sale, the Company recorded $0.1 million and $0.3 million of pretax
employee-related costs and other restructuring expenses during the three and six months ended February 28, 2013,
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and six months ended February 28, 2013, respectively. As of February 28, 2013, the Company has a balance of $0.1
million accrued for employee-related costs related to this plan. The Company anticipates recognizing approximately
$1.0 million of other pretax restructuring expenses during the remainder of fiscal
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2013 and into fiscal 2014. Cash payments associated with this plan are expected to occur through fiscal 2014 as the
plan is completed. 
Fiscal 2012 Restructuring Plans
Masterbatch Reorganization Plan
In August 2012, the Company conducted an extensive evaluation of its three regional segments and specifically
focused on each region's masterbatch product family. As a result of this evaluation, the Company realigned its
regional masterbatch product family to put greater focus on its growth opportunities. Therefore, within each regional
segment, effective September 1, 2012 the masterbatch product family was split into two separate product families,
Custom Performance Colors and Masterbatch Solutions. As part of this plan, the Company reduced headcount in the
EMEA and APAC regions in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012. The Company recorded minimal charges related to this
plan during the first half of fiscal 2013. As of February 28, 2013, the Company has a balance of $2.0 million accrued
primarily related to the EMEA segment for employee-related costs and expects minimal charges related to this plan to
be recognized in fiscal 2013. Cash payments associated with this plan are expected to occur through fiscal 2016 as the
plan is completed. 
EMEA Operations and Back-Office Plan
In November 2011, the Company initiated a restructuring plan of EMEA’s operations and back-office functions to
better leverage savings from its Shared Service Center located in Belgium. As part of this plan, the Company reduced
headcount in EMEA by approximately 50, and the majority of the reductions occurred in the first and second quarters
of fiscal 2012. The Company recorded no charges related to this plan during the three months ended February 28,
2013 and $0.3 million of pretax employee-related restructuring costs during the six months ended February 28, 2013.
The Company recorded $1.2 million and $3.9 million of pretax employee-related restructuring costs during the three
and six months ended February 29, 2012, respectively. As of February 28, 2013, the Company has a balance of $0.3
million accrued for employee-related costs related to this plan. The Company expects minimal employee-related
charges related to this plan during the remainder of fiscal 2013. Cash payments associated with this plan are expected
to occur through fiscal 2014 as the plan is completed. 
Fiscal 2011 Restructuring Plan
Americas Engineered Plastics Plan
On August 25, 2011, the Company announced that it would close the Nashville, Tennessee facility and move
production to existing facilities in order to optimize the use of capacity and capitalize on growth opportunities. As of
the end of February 2012, the Nashville facility ceased production and the Company reduced headcount by
approximately 70, with the majority of the reductions occurring in the second quarter of fiscal 2012. The Company
recorded minimal charges during the first half of fiscal 2013, and $0.3 million and $0.5 million of pretax
employee-related restructuring expense during the three and six months ended February 29, 2012, respectively. As of
February 28, 2013, the Company has a balance of $0.2 million accrued for employee-related costs related to this plan.
The Company expects minimal charges related to this plan to be recognized during the remainder of fiscal 2013. Cash
payments associated with this plan are expected to occur through fiscal 2013 as the plan is completed. 
Consolidated Restructuring Summary
The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company’s restructuring plans: 

Accrual Balance
August 31, 2012

Fiscal 2013
Charges

Fiscal 2013
Paid

Accrual Balance
February 28,
2013

(In thousands)
Employee-related costs $3,524 $3,194 $(2,164 ) 4,554
Other costs 381 412 (350 ) 443
Translation effect (539 ) — — (500 )
Total $3,366 $3,606 $(2,514 ) $4,497
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Income Tax
A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate with the effective tax rates for the three months ended
February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012 is as follows:

Three months ended Three months ended
February 28, 2013 February 29, 2012
(In thousands, except for %’s)

Statutory U.S. tax rate $2,686 35.0  % $4,299 35.0  %
Amount of foreign taxes at less than U.S. statutory tax rate(1,487 ) (19.4 ) (2,689 ) (21.8 )
U.S. and foreign losses with no tax benefit 1,260 16.4 1,097 8.9
U.S. restructuring and other U.S. unusual charges with no
benefit 231 3.0 140 1.1

Valuation allowance changes (7,049 ) (91.9 ) — —
Establishment (resolution) of uncertain tax positions (422 ) (5.5 ) (13 ) (0.1 )
Other 431 5.6 159 1.3
Total income tax expense (benefit) $(4,350 ) (56.8 )% $2,993 24.4  %
The effective tax rate for the three months ended February 28, 2013 is less than the U.S. statutory rate primarily
because of the Company's overall foreign rate being less than the U.S. statutory rate, realization of tax benefits due to
changes in valuation allowances, and resolution of uncertain tax positions in various jurisdictions. These favorable
effects on the Company's tax rate were partially offset by no tax benefits being recognized for U.S. and certain foreign
losses. The change in the effective tax rate as compared with the same period last year was driven primarily by the net
benefit recognized due to the change in valuation allowance and resolution of uncertain tax positions.
The effective tax rate for the three months ended February 29, 2012 is less than the U.S. statutory rate primarily
because of the Company's overall foreign rate being less than the U.S. statutory rate. This favorable effect on the
Company's tax rate was partially offset by no tax benefits being recognized for U.S. and certain foreign losses.
During the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company established a valuation allowance against the net operating
loss deferred tax asset of its Brazilian entity due to the uncertainty in the realization of this asset. The recording of the
valuation allowance resulted in a non-cash charge of approximately $2.4 million.
Additionally, in the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company recorded a non-cash tax benefit of approximately $9.4
million to reverse a valuation allowance against certain deferred tax assets in Germany. Due to German tax law
changes enacted in the second quarter, it is now more-likely-than-not that the interest expense carryforward deferred
tax asset will be realized resulting in the valuation allowance reversal.
A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate with the effective tax rates for the six months ended
February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012 is as follows:

Six months ended Six months ended
February 28, 2013 February 29, 2012
(In thousands, except for %’s)

Statutory U.S. tax rate $8,140 35.0  % $10,114 35.0  %
Amount of foreign taxes at less than U.S. statutory tax rate(4,873 ) (21.0 ) (6,006 ) (20.8 )
U.S. and foreign losses with no tax benefit 2,038 8.8 1,756 6.0
U.S. restructuring and other U.S. unusual charges with no
benefit 554 2.4 250 0.9

Valuation allowance changes (7,049 ) (30.3 ) (747 ) (2.6 )
Establishment (resolution) of uncertain tax positions (253 ) (1.1 ) 18 0.1
Other 530 2.3 259 0.9
Total income tax expense (benefit) $(913 ) (3.9 )% $5,644 19.5  %
The effective tax rate for the six months ended February 28, 2013 is less than the U.S. statutory rate primarily because
of the Company's overall foreign rate being less than the U.S. statutory rate, realization of tax benefits due to changes
in valuation allowances, and resolution of uncertain tax positions in various jurisdictions. These favorable effects on
the Company's tax rate
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were partially offset by no tax benefits being recognized for U.S. and certain foreign losses. The change in the
effective tax rate as compared with the same period last year was driven primarily by the net benefit recognized due to
the change in valuation allowance and resolution of uncertain tax positions.
The effective tax rate for the six months ended February 29, 2012 is less than the U.S. statutory rate primarily because
of the Company's overall foreign rate being less than the U.S. statutory rate and the benefit recorded for the
adjustment of valuation allowance. This favorable effect on the Company's tax rate was partially offset by no tax
benefits being recognized for U.S. and certain foreign losses.
During the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company established a valuation allowance against the net operating
loss deferred tax asset of its Brazilian entity due to the uncertainty in the realization of this asset. The recording of the
valuation allowance resulted in a non-cash charge of approximately $2.4 million.
Additionally, in the second quarter of fiscal 2013, the Company recorded a non-cash tax benefit of approximately $9.4
million to reverse a valuation allowance against certain deferred tax assets in Germany. Due to German tax law
changes enacted in the second quarter, it is now more-likely-than-not that the interest expense carryforward deferred
tax asset will be realized resulting in the valuation allowance reversal.
Goodwill
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as of June 1 using a qualitative analysis, as well as a quantitative analysis
using a combination of the income and market valuation techniques. These valuation techniques use significant
estimates and assumptions that are judgmental in nature including, but not limited to, the determination of appropriate
market comparables, projected future cash flows (including timing and profitability), discount rate reflecting the risk
inherent in future cash flows, perpetual growth rate, and projected future economic and market conditions. If
circumstances change during interim periods between annual tests that would more likely than not reduce the fair
value of a reporting unit below its carrying value, the Company would test goodwill for impairment. Factors which
could necessitate an interim goodwill impairment assessment include a sustained decline in the Company's stock
price, prolonged negative industry or economic trends, and significant underperformance relative to expected
historical or projected future operating results.
Effective September 1, 2012, the masterbatch product family was split into two separate product families, custom
performance colors and masterbatch solutions. In the first quarter of fiscal 2013, the goodwill related to the
Company's historical masterbatch reporting units in EMEA and the Americas, prior to this split, was allocated to the
custom performance colors and masterbatch solutions reporting units in the EMEA and Americas reporting segments
based on relative fair value. As of February 28, 2013, goodwill exists in four of the Company's reporting units in
EMEA (custom performance colors, masterbatch solutions, specialty powders, and distribution services) and four
reporting units in the Americas (custom performance colors, masterbatch solutions, specialty powders, and engineered
plastics).
Management concluded, based on the fiscal 2012 quantitative goodwill impairment analysis performed, that as of June
1, 2012, the fair value of the EMEA specialty powders reporting unit exceeded its carrying value by 10%. As of
February 28, 2013, the Company's EMEA specialty powders reporting unit had goodwill of $17.4 million. A change
in European macroeconomic conditions, as well as future changes in the judgments, assumptions and estimates that
were used in the Company's goodwill impairment testing for the EMEA specialty powders reporting unit, including
the discount rate and future cash flow projections, could result in a significantly different estimate of the fair value.
Generally, goodwill recorded in business combinations is more susceptible to risk of impairment soon after the
acquisition primarily because the business combination is recorded at fair value based on operating plans and
economic conditions present at the time of the acquisition. If operating results or economic conditions deteriorate soon
after an acquisition, it could result in the impairment of the acquired goodwill.
As of February 28, 2013, the Company concluded there were no triggering events which would have required a
goodwill impairment test.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Net cash used in operations was $8.1 million and net cash provided from operations was $12.7 million for the six
months ended February 28, 2013 and February 29, 2012, respectively. The decrease of $20.8 million in cash used in
operations was primarily due to increased levels of working capital for the six months ended February 28, 2013 as
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The Company’s cash and cash equivalents decreased $44.3 million from August 31, 2012. This decrease was driven
primarily by the acquisition of ECM Plastics, Inc. for $36.4 million in cash consideration, expenditures for capital
projects of $12.9 million, and dividend payments of $11.7 million. Combined, these three uses of cash and cash
equivalents totaled $61.0 million, and were offset by increased net borrowings on revolving credit facilities of $14
million.
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The Company’s approximate working capital days are summarized as follows: 
February 28,
2013

August 31,
2012

February 29,
2012

Days in receivables 56 52 58
Days in inventory 58 50 62
Days in payables 46 45 49
Total working capital days 68 57 71
The following table summarizes certain key balances on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets and related
metrics:

February 28,
2013

August 31,
2012 $ Change % Change

(In thousands, except for %’s)
Cash and cash equivalents $79,696 $124,031 $(44,335 ) (35.7 )%
Working capital, excluding cash $270,998 $217,018 $53,980 24.9  %
Long-term debt $190,894 $174,466 $16,428 9.4  %
Total debt $228,549 $209,877 $18,672 8.9  %
Net debt* $148,853 $85,846 $63,007 73.4  %
Total A. Schulman, Inc.’s stockholders’ equity $527,199 $501,396 $25,803 5.1  %
* Total debt less cash and cash equivalents
As of February 28, 2013, 91% of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents were held by its foreign subsidiaries,
compared to 71% as of August 31, 2012. The increase was a result of the use of cash in the U.S. for the acquisition of
ECM Plastics, Inc. The majority of the foreign cash balances are associated with earnings that we have asserted are
permanently reinvested and which we plan to use to support continued growth plans outside the U.S. through funding
of capital expenditures, acquisitions, operating expenses or other similar cash needs of foreign operations. From time
to time, we repatriate cash from foreign subsidiaries to the U.S. for normal operating needs and service outstanding
debt through intercompany dividends. These dividends are typically paid out of current year earnings that we have not
asserted to be permanently reinvested. The percentage of the Company's cash and cash equivalents held by foreign
subsidiaries as of August 31, 2012 was impacted by an increase in the distribution of cash from current period
earnings of the Company's European subsidiaries to the U.S.
Working capital, excluding cash, was $271.0 million as of February 28, 2013, an increase of $54.0 million from
August 31, 2012. The primary reasons for the increase in working capital from August 31, 2012 included an increase
of $28.2 million in accounts receivable and an increase of $31.0 million in inventory offset by increases in accounts
payable and accrued liabilities of $4.5 million and $3.6 million, respectively. The translation effect of foreign
currencies, primarily the Euro, increased accounts receivable by $7.4 million, inventory by $6.4 million and accounts
payable by $6.9 million. The acquisition of ECM Plastics, Inc. contributed $6.0 million, $6.2 million, and $2.2 million
to the increases in accounts receivable, inventory and accounts payable, respectively. Inventory was further impacted
as a result of increased tonnage to support the increased sales volume during the quarter.
Capital expenditures for the six months ended February 28, 2013 were $12.9 million compared with $19.2 million last
year. Capital expenditures in the first half of fiscal 2013 primarily related to the regular and ongoing investment in the
Company's manufacturing facilities.
In the second quarter of fiscal 2011, the Company and certain of its wholly-owned subsidiaries entered into a Credit
Agreement which provides for an aggregate revolving loan facility (the “Revolving Facility") not to exceed $300
million. For further discussion regarding the Company’s Revolving Facility, refer to Note 5 in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2012. As of February 28, 2013, the Company was not in
violation of any of its covenants relating to the Revolving Facility. The Company was well within compliance with
these covenants and does not believe a subsequent covenant violation is reasonably possible as of February 28, 2013.
The Revolving Facility matures on January 7, 2016 and contains an accordion feature that would allow the Company
to increase its total debt commitment by $150 million with the same original terms and conditions, pending required
approval and funding. As of February 28, 2013, the amount available under the Revolving Facility was reduced by
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On March 1, 2006, the Company issued senior guaranteed notes (“Senior Notes”) in the private placement market
consisting of the following:

•

$30.0 million of Senior Notes in the United States, maturing on March 1, 2013, with a variable interest rate of LIBOR
plus 80 bps (“Dollar Notes”). The Dollar Notes are classified as short-term debt in the Company's consolidated balance
sheets as of February 28, 2013 and August 31, 2012. On March 1, 2013, the Company repaid its Dollar Notes upon
maturity with existing capacity under the Revolving Facility.

•

€50.3 million of Senior Notes in Germany, maturing on March 1, 2016, with a fixed interest rate of 4.485% (“Euro
Notes”). The carrying value of the Euro Notes approximate €47.8 million, or $62.8 million, as of February 28, 2013.
Repayment of the Euro Notes prior to maturity would cost approximately $9 million in early termination fees as of
February 28, 2013.
The Senior Notes are guaranteed by the Company’s wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries and contain covenants
substantially identical to those in the $300 million Revolving Facility. As of February 28, 2013, the Company was not
in violation of any of its covenants relating to the Senior Notes. The Company was well within compliance with these
covenants and does not believe a subsequent covenant violation is reasonably possible as of February 28, 2013.
Both the Revolving Facility and the Senior Notes are supported by guaranties of certain material domestic subsidiaries
and pledges of up to 65% of the capital stock of certain of the Company’s directly owned foreign subsidiaries.
Below summarizes the Company’s available funds as of February 28, 2013 and August 31, 2012: 

February 28,
2013

August 31,
2012

(In thousands)
Existing capacity:
Credit Facility $300,000 $300,000
Foreign uncollateralized short-term lines of credit 57,733 48,098
Total gross available funds from credit lines and notes $357,733 $348,098
Availability:
Credit Facility $167,259 $181,299
Foreign uncollateralized short-term lines of credit 51,288 43,752
Total net available funds from credit lines and notes $218,547 $225,051
Total net available funds from credit lines and notes represents the total gross available funds from credit lines and
notes less outstanding borrowings of $137.5 million and $121.3 million as of February 28, 2013 and August 31, 2012,
respectively, and issued letters of credit of $1.7 million as of February 28, 2013 and August 31, 2012.
The Company was in a net debt position of $148.9 million and $85.8 million as of February 28, 2013 and August 31,
2012, respectively. The change of $63.1 million was a result of a decrease in cash and cash equivalents of $44.3
million and an increase in total debt of $18.7 million due to the acquisition of ECM Plastics, Inc., dividend payments,
share repurchases, working capital needs and capital expenditures.
During the three and six months ended February 28, 2013, the Company declared and paid quarterly cash dividends of
$0.195 and $0.39 per common share, respectively. The total amount of these dividends was $5.9 million and $11.7
million, respectively. Cash flow has been sufficient to fund the payment of these dividends.
On April 1, 2011, the Board of Directors approved a three-year share repurchase program under which the Company
is authorized to repurchase up to $100 million of its common stock in the open market or in privately negotiated
transactions, subject to market and other conditions (“2011 Repurchase Program”). The 2011 Repurchase Program
replaces the Company’s previous share repurchase program which was approved in fiscal 2008. 
As part of the 2011 Repurchase Program, on May 12, 2011, the Company entered into a one-year $30 million share
repurchase plan established under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Repurchase
Plan”). Under the Repurchase Plan, the Company’s designated broker repurchased 1,218,429 shares of its common
stock under the 2011 Repurchase Program in the first quarter of fiscal 2012 at an average price of $17.60 per share. As
of October 10, 2011, the Company fulfilled the Repurchase Plan by repurchasing a cumulative 1,603,979 shares of its
common stock in fiscal 2011 and the first quarter of fiscal 2012 at an average price of $18.70 per share.  
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On November 28, 2011, the Company entered into a new 18-month $30 million share repurchase plan established
under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and repurchases under this plan are subject to
specific parameters and contain certain price and volume constraints. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, the
Company increased this share repurchase plan to $70 million, the remaining amount under the 2011 Repurchase
Program, and also repurchased 244,597 shares of common stock at an average price of $21.56 per share. The
Company repurchased 20,089 shares of common stock during the first quarter of fiscal 2013 at an average price of
$23.83 per share. The Company did not repurchase any shares of common stock during the second quarter of fiscal
2013. Shares valued at $64.2 million remained authorized for repurchase as of February 28, 2013. 
The Company has foreign currency exposures primarily related to the Euro, British pound sterling, Polish zloty and
Brazilian real, among others. The assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S.
dollars using current exchange rates. Income statement items are translated at average exchange rates prevailing
during the period. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded in the accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) account in stockholders’ equity. A significant portion of the Company’s operations uses the Euro as its functional
currency. The change in the value of the U.S. dollar during the six months ended February 28, 2013 increased the
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) account by $9.8 million which was primarily the result of a 4.1%
increase in the value of the Euro from 1.261 Euros to 1 U.S. dollar as of August 31, 2012 to 1.313 as of February 28,
2013.
Cash flow from operations, borrowing capacity under the credit facilities and current cash and cash equivalents are
expected to provide sufficient liquidity to maintain the Company’s current operations and capital expenditure
requirements, pay dividends, repurchase shares, pursue acquisitions and service outstanding debt.
Contractual Obligations
Excluding cash paid of $36.4 million for the acquisition of ECM Plastics, Inc. and $1.8 million for the settlement of
the Company's uncertain tax position, as of February 28, 2013 there were no material changes to the Company’s future
contractual obligations as previously reported in the Company’s 2012 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended August 31, 2012.
The Company’s outstanding commercial commitments as of February 28, 2013 are not material to the Company’s
financial position, liquidity or results of operations.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as of February 28, 2013.
Offer To Acquire Ferro Corporation
On March 4, 2013, the Company announced that it made a proposal to the Board of Directors of Ferro Corporation
("Ferro") to acquire all of the outstanding shares of Ferro common stock for per-share consideration of $6.50,
representing an estimated total enterprise value of approximately $855 million including total indebtedness. The total
enterprise value will vary based on Ferro's total debt value at closing of the proposed transaction. The offer
represented a 25% premium over the closing price of Ferro common stock on March 1, 2013, and a 32% premium
over the volume-weighted average trading price over the 60-days preceding March 1, 2013.
The Company's proposed offer price of $6.50 per share is comprised of an immediate cash payment of $3.25 for each
Ferro share outstanding and $3.25 worth of A. Schulman common stock. When cost savings and synergies are fully
implemented, the Company estimates annual savings of $35 million over and above the previously announced Ferro
targets. Based on these additional savings, the Company believes that its offer presents the opportunity for significant
future value to Ferro shareholders through the equity portion of the consideration. The Company's offer was based
upon publicly available information about Ferro, and with greater visibility into Ferro's businesses, the Company
expects its offer could be adjusted subject to customary due diligence.
Ferro's Board of Directors rejected the Company's offer and expressed their belief that Ferro should remain
independent. The Company continues to engage Ferro's shareholders in an effort to enter into a mutually beneficial
dialog with Ferro's Board of Directors.
Critical Accounting Policies
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
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liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Management bases its
estimates on historical experience and other factors it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The Company’s critical accounting
policies are the same as discussed in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31,
2012.
Accounting Pronouncements
For a discussion of accounting pronouncements, see Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly
Report.
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Cautionary Statements
A number of the matters discussed in this document that are not historical or current facts deal with potential future
circumstances and developments and may constitute “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements can be identified by the fact that they do not
relate strictly to historic or current facts and relate to future events and expectations. Forward-looking statements
contain such words as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “project,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” and other words and terms of similar
meaning in connection with any discussion of future operating or financial performance. Forward-looking statements
are based on management’s current expectations and include known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
factors, many of which management is unable to predict or control, that may cause actual results, performance or
achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements. Important
factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those suggested by these forward-looking statements,
and that could adversely affect the Company’s future financial performance, include, but are not limited to, the
following:

•worldwide and regional economic, business and political conditions, including continuing economic uncertainties insome or all of the Company’s major product markets or countries where the Company has operations;

•the effectiveness of the Company’s efforts to improve operating margins through sales growth, price increases,productivity gains, and improved purchasing techniques;
•competitive factors, including intense price competition;

• fluctuations in the value of currencies in major areas where the Company
operates;

•volatility of prices and availability of the supply of energy and raw materials that are critical to the manufacture of theCompany’s products, particularly plastic resins derived from oil and natural gas;
•changes in customer demand and requirements;

•
effectiveness of the Company to achieve the level of cost savings, productivity improvements, growth and other
benefits anticipated from acquisitions, joint ventures and restructuring initiatives, including any proposed combination
with Ferro Corporation;
•escalation in the cost of providing employee health care;
•uncertainties regarding the resolution of pending and future litigation and other claims;
•the performance of the global automotive market; and

•further adverse changes in economic or industry conditions, including global supply and demand conditions andprices for products.
The risks and uncertainties identified above are not the only risks the Company faces. Additional risk factors that
could affect the Company’s performance are set forth in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended August 31, 2012. In addition, risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Company or that it believes to
be immaterial also may adversely affect the Company. Should any known or unknown risks or uncertainties develop
into actual events, or underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, these developments could have material adverse
effects on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
Item 3 – Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk
In the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to interest rate, foreign currency, and commodity risks.
Information related to these risks and management of these exposures is included in Part II, ITEM 7A,
QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK, in the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2012, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on October 24, 2012. Exposures to market risks have not changed materially since August 31, 2012.
Item 4 – Controls and Procedures
The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the Company’s reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing
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recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable
assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating
the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
The Company carries out a variety of on-going procedures, under the supervision and with the participation of the
Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to evaluate the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. Based on that
evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level as of the end of the period covered
by this report.
There has been no change in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting during the Company’s most
recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
controls over financial reporting.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION
Items 1, 3, 4 and 5 are not applicable or the answer to such items is negative; therefore, the items have been omitted
and no reference is required in this Quarterly Report.
Item 1A – Risk Factors
There are certain risks and uncertainties in the Company’s business that could cause our actual results to differ
materially from those anticipated. In “ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS” of Part I of the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2012, the Company included a detailed discussion of its risk factors. There
are no changes from the risk factors previously disclosed.
Item 2 – Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
On April 1, 2011, the Board of Directors approved a three-year share repurchase program under which the Company
is authorized to repurchase up to $100 million of its common stock in the open market or in privately negotiated
transactions, subject to market and other conditions (“2011 Repurchase Program”). The 2011 Repurchase Program
replaces the Company’s previous share repurchase program which was approved in fiscal 2008. 
As part of the 2011 Repurchase Program, on May 12, 2011, the Company entered into a one-year $30 million share
repurchase plan established under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Repurchase
Plan”). Under the Repurchase Plan, the Company’s designated broker repurchased 1,218,429 shares of its common
stock under the 2011 Repurchase Program in the first quarter of fiscal 2012 at an average price of $17.60 per share. As
of October 10, 2011, the Company fulfilled the Repurchase Plan by repurchasing a cumulative 1,603,979 shares of its
common stock in fiscal 2011 and the first quarter of fiscal 2012 at an average price of $18.70 per share.  
On November 28, 2011, the Company entered into a new 18-month $30 million share repurchase plan established
under Rule 10b5-1 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and repurchases under this plan are subject to
specific parameters and contain certain price and volume constraints. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, the
Company increased this share repurchase plan to $70 million, the remaining amount under the 2011 Repurchase
Program, and also repurchased 244,597 shares of common stock at an average price of $21.56 per share. The
Company repurchased 20,089 shares of common stock during the first quarter of fiscal 2013 at an average price of
$23.83 per share. The Company did not repurchase any shares of common stock during the second quarter of fiscal
2013. Shares valued at $64.2 million remained authorized for repurchase as of February 28, 2013. 
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Item 6 – Exhibits
(a)Exhibits

Exhibit Number Exhibit

3.1
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (for purposes of Commission
reporting compliance only) (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3(a) to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended August 31, 2009).

3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 27, 2011).

10.1* Form of 2013 Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for Foreign Employees (filed herewith)

10.2* Notice of 2013 Restricted Stock Unit Award for Foreign Employees (filed herewith)

10.3* Form of 2013 Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Employees (filed herewith)

10.4* Notice of 2013 Restricted Stock Award for Employees (filed herewith)

10.5* Form of 2013 Whole Share Award Agreement for Non-Employee Directors (filed herewith)

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a).

32 Certifications of Principal Executive and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350.

101.INS** XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an Exhibit hereto.

**

In accordance with Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language)
information in these exhibits shall not be deemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to liability under that section, and shall not be incorporated by
reference into any registration statement or other document filed under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
except as expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
A. Schulman, Inc.
(Registrant)

/s/ Joseph J. Levanduski
Joseph J. Levanduski , Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer of A. Schulman, Inc. (Signing
on behalf of Registrant as a duly authorized
officer of Registrant and signing as the
Principal Financial Officer of Registrant)
Date: April 8, 2013
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